SUPREME COURT CO.

INTHE

SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

VS.

SUPPREIZE COURT

TERRY QUARRY ET AL.

AVS / 0 2009

PLAINTIFFS AND ROGUEDER CARON CAUSE APPELLANTS,

DOE 1.

DEFENDANT AND

RESPONDENT.

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Court Of Appeal, First Appellate District, Division Four Case No. A120048

Alameda County Superior Court, No. HG07313640 Honorable Kenneth Mark Burr

FOLEY & LARDNER LLP

STEPHEN A. MCFEELY (STATE BAR NO. 054099)

Tami S. Smason (State Bar No. 120213)

LEILA NOURANI (STATE BAR NO. 163336)

MICHAEL B. MCCOLLUM (STATE BAR NO. 235447)

555 S. Flower Street, Suite 3500

LOS ANGELES, CALIFORNIA 90071 TELEPHONE: (213) 972-4500

FACSIMILE: (213) 488-0065

I. STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. Did the expansive 2002 amendments to the statute of limitations for child molestation, contained in California Code of Civil Procedure § 340.1, revive indefinitely a previously time-barred claim against a non-perpetrator that a plaintiff over age 26 had not yet discovered, or as the plain language of § 340.1(c) indicates and as *Hightower* held revive "any" time-barred claims against a non-perpetrator, but only through December 31, 2003?
- 2. Does a cause of action for sexual molestation accrue only once, at the time of the molestation, as this Court held in *Shirk v. Vista Unified School Dist.* (2007) 42 Cal.4th 201, or does the cause of action re-accrue upon the discovery that the childhood molestation caused adulthood injuries, contrary to *Shirk*?
- 3. Is the applicable statute of limitations the one "in effect at the time a claim is filed," as the Court of Appeal held, contrary to an established body of case law that amendments to statutes of limitation are prospective absent an express indication of Legislative intent to make them retroactive?

II. <u>INTRODUCTION</u>

This case comes before this Court to consider a remarkable interpretation of Code of Civil Procedure section 340.1 by Division Four of the First District Court of Appeal. After review of the lower court's decision, this Court will again be required to confirm two of the most fundamental and well established principles of law in California: (1) a legislative change to a statute of limitations is prospective only, unless the Legislature specifies otherwise; and (2) judicial legislation is impermissible.

In January of 2002 a firestorm started in Boston and soon spread across this country. The Boston Globe published a series of newspaper articles attacking the conduct of the Archbishop of Boston, charging him with having mishandled for years claims of child abuse by his clergy. The reaction to those charges moved swiftly out of Massachusetts, and the nature of clergy abuse, its history and prevalence became the subject of national discussion.

California took the lead in fashioning a response to what some called a crisis. In the spring of that year, the California Legislature passed, and the Governor signed, SB 1779, an extraordinary piece of legislation. SB 1779 amended Code of Civil Procedure section 340.1 and created a one year window in 2003 for the filing of previously time-barred civil suits seeking damages for child abuse from third parties allegedly responsible for the conduct of the abuser. Code Civ. Proc. § 340.1(c). There was no limit to how far back in time the claim could reach. That 2003 window resulted in more than 1,000 cases being filed statewide, many reaching back decades, and most against members of the Roman Catholic Church. More than one billion dollars was required to resolve these cases.

At the same time it authorized that unprecedented one year window, the Legislature also further liberalized section 340.1 to allow an action against entities other than the perpetrator to be filed within three years after the plaintiff discovered the psychological injuries suffered as a result of the childhood sexual abuse. Code Civ. Proc. § 340.1 (a) and (b). There was no indication whatsoever that this revision was to have any retroactive effect. In 2006, the Court of Appeal designated to handle the legal issues arising out of SB 1779 confirmed that there was no retroactive effect to this provision – it was to operate prospectively only. *Hightower v. Roman Catholic Bishop of Sacramento* (2006) 142 Cal.App.4th 759 [48 Cal.Rptr.3d 420]. There matters stood for well over two years, guiding the courts throughout the State in dozens of post 2003 cases, until the case now before this Court.

In February 2009, the First District, Division Four, issued *Quarry v. Doe 1* (2009) 170 Cal.App.4th 1574 [89 Cal.Rptr.3d 640]. The case was brought by six brothers against the Bishop of Oakland. Each brother claimed that he had been abused by the same priest in 1972, and each claimed that it was more than 30 years later when, coincidentally, on the same day each of them connected his life-long psychological difficulties to the abuse that had taken place in 1972.

Division Four of the First District Court of Appeal crafted an obvious result-oriented decision. The panel clearly disfavors any limitations period for child sexual abuse claims against allegedly responsible third parties (the panel having concluded, we know not how, that they are "the more culpable" defendants). The *Quarry* Court swept aside *Hightower* (and other reasoned opinions), deliberately ignored both binding precedent of this Court and the most fundamental of provisions of California law, to manufacture the result the panel desired – the elimination of civil statutes of limitations for child abuse in California.

The time-barred claims that the Legislature authorized to be filed in 2003 resulted in cases alleging abuse that took place decades before, some as far back as the 1950s. That extraordinary relief was specifically legislated, but only for a limited time period – one year – 2003. The *Quarry* Court wants to extend that outcome well beyond the Legislature's enactment. If *Quarry* were the law, the limited window that the Legislature created for time-barred claims would, by judicial fiat and not legislative enactment, be reopened permanently. No court has that authority. *Hightower* is correct and *Quarry* must be reversed.

III. STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY¹

This case involves six brothers who allege that a priest of the Diocese of Oakland (referred to by the Court of Appeal as the "Bishop") sexually abused them in the early 1970's when they were children. (Appellants' Appendix ["AA"], v.2, pp. 268, 270.) The statute of limitations on the last of the Plaintiffs' claims had run by 1982 (because that is when the youngest brother turned 19) (AA, v. 2, p.268), and all of their claims had remained time-barred until 2003. In 2002, the Legislature enacted an amendment to California Code of Civil Procedure section 340.1 subdivision (c) which revived for one year only (from January 1, 2003 to December 31, 2003) all time-barred claims against "non-perpetrator defendants," namely those defendants who are alleged to have employed or supervised alleged perpetrators of child sexual abuse. Code. Civ. Proc. § 340.1(c).

¹ This is a proper appeal from judgment entered after the trial court's sustaining of a demurrer, without leave to amend. All facts, therefore, are limited to the allegations in the complaint and judicially noticeable documents included in the record on appeal.

None of the Plaintiffs filed their claims against the Bish op during that prescribed one-year window. Instead, the Plaintiffs waited three years *past* the revival window and a full quarter of a century after the last of the claims was initially barred, before bringing suit in 2007. It was not until 2006 – they allege – that they realized that there was a connection between the abuse and their psychological injuries and that their injuries were caused by the abuse. (AA, v. 2, pp. 278-283.) Incredibly, all six Plaintiffs allege they made the late discovery on the same date – March 6, 2006 – while also alleging that, as children, they attempted to avoid the priest and warned other boys to stay away from him, and despite the further fact that the youngest brother, Michael Quarry, filed a police report about the childhood sexual abuse in 1994, at the age of 31. (AA, v.2, pp. 274, 281.)

In response to the Plaintiffs' complaint filed in 2007, the Bishop demurred. The trial court (Alameda County Superior Court (Burr, Judge)). after allowing an amendment to the complaint, relied on the Second District, Division Seven's opinion in Hightower v. Roman Catholic Bishop of Sacramento, supra, 142 Cal. App. 4th 759 to sustain the demurrer without leave to amend. (AA, v.3, pp. 574-575.) Consistent with other trial courts throughout the state, the trial court stated it was bound by *Hightower* and "agree[d] with the reasoning in that case." (AA, v. 3, p. 574.) As in Hightower, it held that the Plaintiffs' claims had been time-barred prior to 2003, and because the Plaintiffs had not filed their claims during the 2003 revival window, they were thus time-barred, and that the statute's new delayed discovery rule did not apply retroactively to revive time-barred claims or save them from the 2003 revival window. (Id.) It characterized as "strained" the Plaintiffs' "conclusion that the Legislature only intended to revive the limitations period for victims who had discovered the causal connection between the abuse and their psychological damages, but

intended to allow all other victims to file suit whenever they discovered their claims, regardless of whether their claims were time-barred under previous stat[ut]es." (*Id.*) The trial court further found that the Plaintiffs' claims were "not subject to common law delayed discovery principles" because "C.C.P. § 340.1 provides the exclusive limitation period for Plaintiffs' claims. It applies to all claims of childhood sexual abuse made by an adult." (AA, v. 3, pp. 574-575.)

The Plaintiffs appealed and the Court of Appeal disagreed. In direct conflict with the Second District's opinion in *Hightower*, the First District held that section 340.1 revived time-barred claims – even decades old ones – not just during 2003, but indefinitely into the future, by retroactive application of the delayed-discovery rule. To reach what can only be viewed as a result-oriented decision, the Court of Appeal struggled to hold that the Plaintiffs' undiscovered claims of adult emotional distress caused by the childhood abuse did not accrue until 2006. In order to get there, the *Quarry* panel had to ignore the plain language of the statute and the legislative intent, ignore and contradict this Court's precedent in *Shirk v. Vista Unified School Dist., supra,* 42 Cal.4th 201 [164 P.3d 630, 64 Cal.Rptr.3d 210], and it further had to depart from well-established rules of law governing the retroactive application of statutes of limitations.

This Court granted the petition for review in this case in order to consider the First District's opinion. Pending the review of this case, the Third District Court of Appeal decided K.J. v. Roman Catholic Bishop of Stockton (2009) 172 Cal.App.4th 1388 [92 Cal.Rptr.3d 673], that confirmed Hightower's holding. This Court also granted the petition for review of that K.J./Stockton case. K.J. v. Roman Catholic Bishop of Stockton (June 24, 2009, S173042).

IV. LEGAL DISCUSSION

A. GUIDING PRINCIPLES OF STATUTORY INTERPRETATION

The issue before this Court is one of plain statutory interpretation.

As such, a Court applies

well-established principles of statutory construction in seeking to determine the Legislature's intent in enacting the statute so that [the Court] may adopt the construction that best effectuates the purpose of the law. [A Court is] to begin with the statutory language because it is generally the most reliable indication of legislative intent. If the statutory language is unambiguous, [the Court] presume[s] the Legislature meant what it said, and the plain meaning of the statute controls. But if the statutory language may reasonably be given more than one interpretation, courts may consider various extrinsic aids, including the purpose of the statute, the evils to be remedied, the legislative history, public policy, and the statutory scheme encompassing the statute.

Shirk v. Vista Unified School Dist., supra, 42 Cal.4th at 211 (internal quotations and citations omitted).

Here, because the statutory language is unambiguous, the Court need not look further than the plain language of the statute itself.

B. THE PLAIN LANGUAGE IS CLEAR THAT THE STATUTE'S DELAYED DISCOVERY PROVISION DOES NOT APPLY RETROACTIVELY

In 2002, the Legislature passed SB 1779 to amend Code of Civil Procedure section 340.1. The most significant of the new provisions was the Legislature's response to the clergy abuse scandal – an extraordinary

one-year window for retroactive revival of previously time-barred claims against certain non-perpetrator defendants. The less prominent of the new provisions created new limitation rules applying the delayed discovery rule for prospective claims against these defendants. The central is sue now before this Court is whether that amendment containing the delayed discovery provision also applies retroactively to previously barred claims.

The plain language of section 340.1, both in its form as amended in 2002, and in its prior iterations, confirms that the statute's delayed discovery provision does not apply retroactively. The evolution of the statute clearly illustrates that the Legislature knows precisely how to specify when a limitations rule (including the delayed discovery rule) is to apply retroactively. The plain language of the current statute contains no retroactive language whatsoever with respect to its delayed-discovery provision. The evolution of the statute also establishes that the Plaintiffs' claims were all time-barred by 1982, and that they remained barred under each subsequent amendment to the statute until the 2003 revival window. Because the Plaintiffs' claims were not brought during the 2003 revival window, therefore, they were again time-barred when brought in 2007.

1. The Enactment and Evolution of Section 340.1 and Its Effect on the Plaintiffs' Claims

(1) The Limitations Rule Prior to Enactment of Section 340.1

Prior to the 1986 enactment of section 340.1, the limitations period for claims for childhood sexual abuse was one year, as governed by section 340(3) of the California Code of Civil Procedure. *Shirk v. Vista Unified School Dist.*, *supra*, 42 Cal.4th at 207. The one-year period did not run, however, until after the age of majority (age 18), or until age 19. *Hightower v. Roman Catholic Bishop of Sacramento*, *supra*, 142

Cal.App.4th at 765. Under this rule, all of the claims of the Plaintiffs in this case would thus have expired by 1982 or earlier.²

(2) The 1986 Enactment of Section 340.1

In 1986, the Legislature enacted section 340.1 specifically to govern, and broaden, limitations periods for claims of childhood sexual abuse. (Former Code Civ. Proc. § 340.1, added by Stats. 1986, ch. 914, § 1, pp. 3165-3166); *Shirk v. Vista Unified School Dist., supra,* 42 Cal.4th at 207. But this new section 340.1 only applied to claims of abuse by a "household or family member," and it did not apply to claims against non-perpetrator defendants. (Former § 340.1); *Shirk, supra,* at 207. For this reason, the new section 340.1 did not apply to the Quarry brothers' claims (because they were not against the actual perpetrator being a household or family member, but rather were against a non-perpetrator defendant institution), and the Plaintiffs' claims thus remained barred as of 1982 under the prior section 340(3) rule.

As to claims that were covered under the new section 340.1, however, the limitations period was expanded up to the plaintiff's 21st birthday. The statute also expressly allowed for application of delayed discovery, stating, "Nothing in this bill is intended to preclude the courts from applying delayed discovery exceptions to the accrual of a cause of action for sexual molestation of a minor." (Former Code Civ. Proc. § 340.1(d)). The statute also included an *express* revival provision that permitted this new limitations period to be applied to "[a]ny action commenced after January 1, 1987, including any action which would be

² The youngest Plaintiff was born in October 23, 1963. (AA, v. 2, p. 268.) He alleged he was abused between 1972 and 1973, when he was 13 and 14 years old. (AA, v. 2, p. 270.) Therefore, he would have reached age 19 on October 23, 1982.

barred by application of the period of limitations applicable prior to January 1, 1987." (Former Code Civ. Proc. § 340.1(e)(1)).

(3) The 1990 Amendment

In 1990, section 340.1 was amended to apply the more lenient limitations rule to childhood sexual abuse claims against any actual perpetrator of the alleged abuse, and not just a "household or family member." *Shirk v. Vista Unified School Dist., supra,* 42 Cal.4th at 207. The limitations rule was also changed, and extended to (1) eight years from the date the victim "attains the age of majority" (i.e. to the plaintiffs' 26th birthday), or (2) three years from the date the victim "discovers or reasonably should have discovered the psychological injury or illness occurring after the age of majority was caused by the sexual abuse."). *Shirk, supra,* at 207; *Debbie Reynolds Prof. Rehearsal Studio v. Super. Ct.* (1994) 25 Cal.App.4th 222, 230 [30 Cal.Rptr.2d 514]

Section 340.1 still only applied to claims against actual perpetrators and had not yet been expanded to non-perpetrator defendants. Accordingly, the 1990 amendment did not alter the Plaintiffs' claims in this case, and all of the Quarrys' claims in this case still remained barred.

Similar to the 1986 enactment, the 1990 amendment *expressly* authorized application of the delayed discovery rule. Subdivision (*l*) read: "Nothing in the [1990] amendment shall be construed to preclude the courts from applying equitable exceptions to the running of the applicable statute of limitations, including exceptions relating to delayed discovery of injuries, with respect to actions commenced prior to January 1, 1991. (Former § 340.1(*l*), amended by Stats. 1990, ch. 1578. § 1, p. 7552).

In 1993, the Court of Appeal confirmed, consistent with the statute's language, that the 1990 amendment's more lenient limitations period was not retroactive and thus did not revive lapsed claims. *David A. v. Superior*

Court (1993) 20 Cal.App.4th 281, 286 [24 Cal.Rptr.2d 537]. The First District held that the amendment could not revive lapsed claims, because the amending act did not mandate revival in "unmistakable terms." *Id.* at 286. The court rejected policy arguments favoring revival because "it is not for us to decide whether such claim should be revived." *Id.* at 288, fn. 7.

(4) The 1994 Amendment

In response to the *David A*. ruling, the Legislature decided in 1994 to make the 1990 amendments retroactive. The Legislature changed the statute to *expressly* state that the 1990 amendment would "apply to any action commenced on or after January 1, 1991, including any action otherwise barred by the period of limitations in effect prior to January 1, 1991, thereby reviving those causes of action which had lapsed or technically expired under the law existing prior to January 1, 1991." (Former Code Civ. Proc. § 340.1(p), amended by Stats. 1994, ch. 288, § 1); *Shirk v. Vista Unified School Dist., supra*, 42 Cal.4th at 207.

But at the same time the Legislature did this, the Legislature also deleted the portion of the statute (previously at subdivision (*l*)) that had allowed courts to apply "equitable exceptions to the running of the applicable statute of limitations," including those relating to "delayed discovery of injuries." Stats. 1994, ch. 288, § 1; see 13 C West's Annot. Code Civ. Proc., Historical and Statutory Notes (2006) foll. § 340.1, p. 173. Therefore, while expressly making part of the statute retroactive, the Legislature also chose simultaneously to delete the delayed discovery rule for these very claims.

Because the statute and its broader limitations period still did not apply to claims against non-perpetrator defendants, the Plaintiffs' claims in this case were still barred after this 1994 amendment.

(5) The 1998 Amendment

In 1998, the statute was amended to apply – for the first time – not only to actions against actual perpetrators, but also to actions against non-perpetrators. (Former Code Civ. Proc. § 340.1 (a)(2) & (3), amended by Stats. 1998, ch. 1032, § 1); *Mark K. v. Roseman Catholic Archbishop* (1998) 67 Cal.App.4th 603, 610, fn. 4 [79 Cal.Rptr.2d 73]. With respect to claims against non-perpetrator persons or entities deemed to be a "legal cause" of the minor's sexual abuse, the statute was clear: the claims had to have been brought no later than the plaintiff's 26th birthday. (Former § 340.1(b)(1)); *Shirk v. Vista Unified School Dist., supra*, 42 Cal.4th at 208. Applying the 1998 amendment to the facts of this case, however, because the youngest Plaintiff was 35 years old at that time, his claims and those of his older brothers were still barred even after this 1998 amendment because they were all older than 26.

(6) The 1999 Amendment

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