# BUPREME COURT COP'

**CASE NO. S171382** 

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

TERRY QUARRY, et al., Plaintiffs and Appellants,

DOE 1 DIOCESE, Defendant and Respondent.

W.

SEP 1 0 2009

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

DEPUTY

Court of Appeal, First Appellate District, Division 4 Case No. A120048

Alameda County Superior Court, No. HG07313640 Honorable Kenneth Mark Burr

# PLAINTIFFS AND APPELLANTS ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Irwin M. Zalkin, Esq. (#89957) Devin M. Storey, Esq. (#234271) THE ZALKIN LAW FIRM, P.C. 12555 High Bluff Drive, Suite 260 San Diego, CA 92130 Telephone: 858/259-3011

Facsimile: 858/259-3015 Attorneys for Plaintiffs / Responsible Compation To

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

1. The Legislature did not abrogate the common law delayed discovery rule in the context of childhood sexual abuse claims

Defendant notes that the 1986 and 1990 versions of section 340.1 advised that the statute should not be interpreted as the Legislature's disapproval of the common law delayed discovery doctrine. (Opening Brief

at 42.) The 1994 amendment removed all reference to the common law delayed discovery doctrine. (Opening Brief at 42.) Defendant argues that by removing the statute's previous references to the equitable delayed discovery doctrine, the Legislature abrogated that common law doctrine as against non-perpetrator defendants. (Opening Brief at 43.) This interpretation is untenable.

"As a general rule, 'unless expressly provided, statutes should not be interpreted to alter the common law, and should be construed to avoid conflict with common law rules." Cal. Ass'n of Health Facilities v. Dept. of Health Services (1997) 16 Cal.4th 284, 297. "A statute will be construed in light of common law decisions, unless its language 'clearly and unequivocally discloses an intention to depart from, alter, or abrogate the common - law rule concerning a particular subject matter." Goodman, 25 Cal.App.4th at 1676 (quoting People v. Zikrous (1983) 150 Cal.3d 324, 330.) "Repeal by implication is recognized only where there is no rational basis for harmonizing two potentially conflicting laws." Zikrous, 150 Cal.App.3d at 330. The court of appeal correctly found that "the removal of the savings clause in 1994 did not expressly abrogate the common law delayed discovery rule, nor is such necessarily implied." Quarry, 172

Cal. App. 4th at 1593 (emphasis in original.)

The 1994 amendment to section 340.1 expressly applied the statutory delayed accrual provision of subdivision (a) to all claims against a perpetrator of childhood sexual abuse. *See* Cal. Code Civ. Proc. § 340.1(1994). The change was applied retroactively and revived previously time-barred causes of action. *See* Cal. Code Civ. Proc. § 340.1(1994). Thus, following the 1994 amendment, all victims of childhood sexual abuse could commence an action against their abuser at any time within three years from the date they recognized that psychological injury or illness occurring during adulthood was caused by the molestation. *See* Cal. Code Civ. Proc. § 340.1 (1994).

As of 1994, the equitable delayed discovery doctrine could not conceivably result in a longer period of time than the statutory provision, and required a more onerous showing by the plaintiff. The court of appeal correctly reasoned "the [1994] amendment having revived all claims that had lapsed under the previous limitations periods, thus extending the three-years-from-date-of-discovery period to all plaintiffs, the 'savings clause' for the shorter, 'one-year-from-discovery common law rule became superfluous." *Quarry*, 172 Cal.App.4th at 1593.

Defendants would have this Court determine that in 1994, the Legislature implicitly sought to preclude the application of the equitable delayed discovery doctrine against non-perpetrator defendants, notwithstanding that such defendants were not subject to the statute at the time, and would not be for another four years. This runs contrary to the reasoning of several long-standing authorities interpreting section 340.1, which have consistently declined to extend the benefits of the 1994 amendment to claims against non-perpetrator defendants not included within its terms. See Mark K., 67 Cal.App.4th 603; Tietge, 55 Cal.App.4th 382; Debbie Reynolds, 25 Cal.App.4th 222. There is no justification for extending the burden of an implied abrogation of the common law delayed discovery doctrine to non-perpetrator defendants when the courts have refused to extend the benefit of the enlarged limitations period against such defendants.

In addition, the Legislature explained during the lawmaking process underlying the 1998 amendment to section 340.1, that the common law doctrine had not been abrogated as to such defendants. The Legislature repeatedly expressed its understanding that the law existing at the time "[p]rovides that the time for commencing an action (i.e. the statute of

limitations) is tolled while the injured party (eg., plaintiff) is a minor, so that, unless the extended statute of limitations or another exception applies, a person alleging childhood sexual abuse has to file such an action by age 19." (Appellants Request for Judicial Notice, Exhibits 2 at p. 1, 3 at p. 1, Exhibit 7 at p. 1-2.)

By noting the availability of "exception[s]" to the statute of limitations, the Legislature recognized that delayed discovery and tolling provisions were not vitiated by the 1994 amendment as applied to non-perpetrator defendants. Moreover, subsequent to both the 1994 and 1998 amendments to section 340.1, courts have recognized the availability of the common law doctrine, but have declined to apply it to the facts of those particular cases. *See Mark K.*, 67 Cal.App.4th 63; *Hightower*, 142 Cal.App.4th at 768.

This Court should not accept Defendants' inference that the Legislature sought, by implication, to preclude reliance on the equitable delayed discovery doctrine.

## 2. The court of appeal correctly applied the equitable doctrine of delayed discovery

Defendant ascribes "several critical flaws" in the court of appeal's reasoning with respect to application of the equitable doctrine of delayed

discovery. None of Defendant's contentions has merit.

Defendant claims that the court of appeal applied the wrong standard as to both the common law and statutory delayed discovery provisions by focusing on when the Appellants discovered their claims rather than when the Appellants reasonably should have discovered their claims. (Opening Brief at 41.) This is a departure from the position taken by the Defendant at the trial level, where the demurrer challenged the availability of the statutory and common law delayed discovery doctrines, not whether Appellants pleadings sufficiently invoked either.

"As with plaintiffs' causes of action under section 340.1, the issue as presented does not raise the sufficiency of the allegations to state a claim for common law delayed discovery and we, therefore, have no opinion on that question." *Quarry*, 172 Cal.App.4th at 1594, fn. 12. The court of appeal did not discuss the legal standard applicable to a claim under the common law delayed discovery doctrine, but rather considered only whether the doctrine had been abolished.

Next, Defendant claims that the court of appeal erroneously determined the common law delayed discovery doctrine prevented accrual of a claim until the plaintiff discovered the cause of his or her psychological

injury-causing action. (Opening Brief at 41 - 42.) This argument is disingenuous. Defendant cites page 1584 of the *Quarry* opinion discussing the statutory delayed discovery provision and passes the quote off as though the court were misapplying the common law delayed discovery doctrine. In truth, the court correctly recognized the difference between the two doctrines:

"The [common law doctrine] arises in situations where the plaintiff repressed the memory of the abuse, or did not understand the wrongfulness of the abuse, until within one year of the filing of the action. . . [citations omitted.] . . . Section 340.1, subdivision (a), on the other hand, permits filing within three years of the date the cause of the injuries was or should have been discovered." The court of appeal did not misstate or misapply the equitable doctrine of delayed discovery.

### 3. Defendant's reading of the statute raises serious constitutional concerns

It is well accepted the Legislature may shorten statutory limitations periods. *Rosefield Packing Co. v. Superior Court* (1935) 4 Cal.2d 120, 122. Amendments shortening limitations periods are procedural, are normally applied retroactively and are applicable to pending actions. *Aronson v.* 

Superior Court (1987) 191 Cal.App.3d 294, 297. But, in any given case, the court must inquire whether retroactive application violates due process by, in effect, eliminating the plaintiff's right. *Id.* If the time left to file suit is reasonable, there is no constitutional impediment to the application of the new statute. *Id.* However, "if no time is left, or only an unreasonably short time remains, then the statute cannot be applied at all." *Id.* 

Thus, "[w]hen necessary to provide a reasonable time to sue, a shortened limitations period may be applied prospectively so that it commences on the effective date of the statute, rather than on the date the cause of action accrued." *Coachella Valley Mosquito & Vector District v. California Public Employment Relations Board* (2005) 35 Cal.4th 1072, 1092; *see also Brown v. Bleiberg* (1982) 32 Cal.3d 426, 437 ("A statute shortening the statute of limitations may be interpreted prospectively to avoid constitutional problems which would attend retroactivity"); *Niagra Fire Ins. Co. v. Cole* (1965) 235 Cal.App.2d 40; *Krusesky v. Baugh* (1982) 138 Cal.App.3d 562; *Scott v. County of Los Angeles* (1977) 73 Cal.App.3d 476; *Olivas v. Weiner* (1954) 127 Cal.App.2d 597.

Appellants were each over the age of 26 when the 1998 amendment to section 340.1 took effect. Appellants have invoked the common law

delayed discovery doctrine to delay the accrual of their respective actions. On December 31, 1998, nothing prohibited the courts from applying the equitable doctrine of delayed discovery to Appellants' actions. *See Evans*, 216 Cal.App.3d 1609; *Mark K.*, 67 Cal.App.4th at 612-13. On December 31, 1998, Appellants' claims were timely.

When the 1998 amendment to section 340.1 took effect on January 1, 1999, Defendants' interpretation of the statute would immediately destroy Appellants' previously timely claims. Due process considerations foreclose such a 'harsh and unreasonable' result. *See Olivas*, 127 Cal.App.2d at 600. To avoid constitutional concerns, the statute must be interpreted as allowing eight years from majority before the bar becomes effective. For individuals with timely claims at the time of the enactment

When a statute is susceptible to two constructions, one of which renders the statute constitutional and the other raising difficult constitutional issues, the interpretation avoiding the constitutional questions must be accepted, even if the interpretations are equally reasonable. *In re Marriage Cases* (2008) 43 Cal.4th 757, 800. The age 26 limitation of subdivision (b), cannot constitutionally be interpreted as written. It must instead be applied prospectively from the effective date of the 1998 amendment to avoid due process concerns. Appellants' reading of the statute must be adopted over Defendant's interpretation of the statute raising constitutional concerns.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup>This eight year period adopts the language of subdivision (a), which sets the statute of limitations as eight years after the plaintiff attains the age of majority.

of the 1998 amendment, the eight year period must be applied from the effective date of the bill. The 1998 amendment to section 340.1 cannot be applied as written without depriving Appellants of due process.

# F. Appellants May Avail Themselves of the "Three Year From Discovery" Provision of § 340.1(a)(1) Using Vicarious Liability Principles

Section 340.1(a) delineates between actions against a perpetrator of the abuse, and actions resulting from the negligent or intentionally tortious acts of third parties. Cal. Code Civ. Proc. § 340.1(a)(1) - (a)(3).

Unlike the direct liability principles embodied by section 340.1(a)(2) and (a)(3), vicarious liability is based on the relationship of the perpetrator to his employer, rather than the direct fault of the employer. *Srithong v. Total Investment Co.* (1994) 23 Cal.App.4th 721, 728. Liability is imposed as a rule of policy regardless of the employer's control or fault. *Lathrop v. HealthCare Partners Medical Group* (2004) 114 Cal.App.4th 1412, 1423; *see also Miller v. Stouffer* (1992) 9 Cal.App.4th 70, 84 ("under the doctrine, an innocent principle or employer is vicariously liable for the torts of the agent or employee, committed while acting within the scope of employment.")

Since the imposition of vicarious liability against the employer is not

based on the employer's culpability, it is counter-intuitive to apply the statute of limitations applicable to the employer's directly-tortious conduct to Appellants' vicarious liability claims. Instead, the Court must look to the statute of limitations applicable against the perpetrator.

"When a plaintiff initiates an action under the theory of respondeat superior . . . The controlling statute of limitations applicable to the employer is that which would apply to the employee. Therefore, if the action is brought within the limitations period that applies to the employee's tortious conduct, the action is not time barred as to the employer whose liability is solely vicarious."

Kocsis, 249 Neb. 274. "For purposes of the statute of limitations, a respondent superior claim is the same as a cause of action against the employee who committed the tort." D.M.S. v. Barber (Minn. 2002) 645 N.W.2d 383, 391.

California courts have accepted the mirror-image of the proposition advocated by Appellants.<sup>23</sup> Since an employer's vicarious liability is derived from the liability of the employee, the employer may avail itself of substantive defenses available to the employee. *Lathrop*, 114 Cal.App.4th at 1423. The employer steps into the shoes of the employee to assert

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> Appellants are aware of no California authority addressing this issue and believe it to be a question of first impression. In *Boyer v. Jensen* (2005) 129 Cal.App.4th 62, 70-71, the plaintiff appears to have made a similar argument, but the court never reached the issue.

available defenses. The employer must also step into the shoes of the employee for purposes of the statute of limitations. There is no justification for an employer to reap the benefits of substantive defenses available to the employee, but not share the same exposure created by the statute of limitations applicable to the employee's tortious acts. Since employer liability based on vicarious liability principles is derivative of the liability of the employee, the statute of limitations for such claims must be the statute applicable to the employee's tortious acts.

## 1. Appellants can maintain their claims under a respondeat superior theory

An "employees willful, malicious and even criminal torts may be committed within the course and scope of employment, thus rendering their employers liable under respondeat superior." *Torres v. Parkhouse Tire Service* (2001) 26 Cal.4th 995, 1008 (quotation omitted.) The doctrine of

The statute of limitations against the perpetrator can also be extended to the defendant based on a theory of ratification, whereby the principal may become liable for an originally unauthorized tort of the agent by the subsequent ratification of the tort. 3 Witkin, Summary 10th (2005) Agency, § 164, p. 207. The failure to discharge an agent or employee despite knowledge or the opportunity to learn of his unfitness is evidence tending to show ratification. *See McChristian v. Popkin* (1946) 75 Cal.App.2d 249, 256. The theory of ratification is particularly relevant when an employer fails to respond to allegations that an employee committed an intentional tort. *Baptist v. Robinson* (2006) 143 Cal.App.4th 151, 170.

respondent superior applies when the employee's tort was committed within the scope of his employment. *Mary M.*, 54 Cal.3d. at 209. "To be within the scope of employment, the incident giving rise to the injury must be an outgrowth of the employment, the risk of injury must be inherent in the workplace, or typical of or broadly incidental to the employer's enterprise." *Torres*, 26 Cal.4th at 1008.

The "roots of sexual violence and exploitation are [not] in all cases so fundamentally different from those other abhorrent human traits as to allow a conclusion sexual misconduct is per se unforeseeable in the workplace." *Lisa M.* 12 Cal.4th at 300. Whether an employee's conduct was within the scope of employment is a question of fact that may be decided as a matter of law only when the facts are undisputed and no conflicting inferences are possible. *Id.* at 299. Where it is arguable whether the employee acted within the scope of employment, the question must be decided by the trier of fact. *Alma W.*, 123 Cal.App.3d at 138.

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